Page 1 of 15

FILED 07-20-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS District III

STATE OF WISCONSIN

Plaintiff-Respondent

v.

Appeal No. 2021AP000843 CR Circuit Court Case No. 2017CF000256

STEVEN M. NELSON

Defendant-Appellant

On appeal from a Judgment Entered in the Circuit Court for Barron County, the Honorable Maureen D. Boyle, Circuit Judge, presiding.

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF

ZICK LEGAL LLC Vicki Zick State Bar No. 1033516 Attorneys for Defendant-Appellant

PO Box 325 475 Hartwig Boulevard Johnson Creek, WI 53038 920-699-9900

ISSUE PRESENTED

1. Whether defendant was properly sentenced as a repeater.

Answered by the trial court: Yes.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

Because the briefs should fully cover the issues in this appeal, oral argument is not recommended.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

Publication is not recommended. The case presents no issues that have not been clarified by existing law.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 20, 2019, the State charged defendant, Steven M. Nelson, with one count of possession of methamphetamine, a Class I Felony. (R1). He was charged as a repeater. (R1). On January 17, 2020, the Barron County Circuit Court, following Nelson's guilty plea, withheld sentence and placed Mr. Nelson on three years of probation for this crime. (R59:14).

On June 2, 2020, DOC revoked Nelson's probation and on June 30, 2020 the court sentenced him to six years of imprisonment, bifurcated three and three. (R61:35). Insofar as the maximum sentence for possession of meth is three-and-ahalf years (bifurcated one-and-a-half and two), the repeater statute, § 939.62(1)(b), permitted the court to enhance Nelson's term of imprisonment by four years. Wis. Stats. § 936.62(1)(b). In this instance the court enhanced Mr. Nelson's confinement time by one-and-a-half years and his supervision time by one year, for a total sentence of three plus three. (R61:35).

The issue in this case is that all parties were mistaken about the crime that served as the basis for the repeater enhancement. In fact, all parties were mistaken right up to and through the sentencing after revocation hearing.

The complaint in this matter alleged that Nelson had been convicted of Possession of Methamphetamine in Barron County Case No. 17CF307 in November 15, 2017. (R1). This was the conviction that anchored the repeater charge. It appeared again in the Information filed on August 6, 2019. (R12). The problem was Nelson had never been convicted of Possession of Methamphetamine in 17CF307. In 17CF307 he had been convicted of a completely different crime – Possession of a Firearm by a Felon. (Index 17CF307 – R18).

To add to the confusion, at his plea hearing Nelson acknowledged that he had been convicted of possession of meth in 17CF307:

THE COURT:	And do you acknowledge that you have
	previously been convicted of Possession of
	Methamphetamine, in Barron County Case 17-
	CF-307, on November 15, 2017?

DEFENDANT: Uh, yes, Your Honor. (R58:4).

In fact, the court made two additional references to Nelson's prior conviction for possessing methamphetamine at the plea hearing that Nelson also acknowledged. (R58:7, 10).

The confusion continued at the sentencing after revocation hearing. When DOC revoked Nelson's probation in this case, it also revoked his probation in two other cases

Page 6 of 15

where his sentences also had been withheld. (R61:3-4). In both of these other cases he had been convicted of being a felon in possession of a firearm and, as one might guess, one of these cases was 17CF307, the case that anchored the repeater enhancer in this case. (R61:13).

Now all three cases came before Branch 3 for sentencing after revocation on June 30, 2020. (R61). But it appears from reviewing the hearing transcript that no one still had figured out that the conviction anchoring the repeater enhancer in this methamphetamine case was incorrect. (R61). Although the prosecutor talked about how the two other cases involved firearms, as did the court, no one picked up on the fact that 17CF307 was not the methamphetamine conviction alleged in the complaint or the information in this case, Case No. 19CF197. (R61:13, 24). Thus, when all was said and done the court wound up sentencing Nelson as a repeater for a crime he had never committed.

LEGAL STANDARD

The Wisconsin Supreme Court has created a bright-line rule that when a prosecutor intends to seek a penalty enhancer the prosecutor must allege any prior convictions at or before the time the defendant pleads to the charges. *State v. Gerard*, 189 Wis.2d 505, 514, 525 N.W.2d 718 (1995). When the State intends to include a penalty enhancement to satisfy § 973.12(1), Stats., and the notice required by due process, it must allege any prior convictions at or before the time the defendant pleads to the charges. *Id* at 514.

The defendant pleads to the information rather than the complaint, and therefore the information is the charging document that will ordinarily include the repeater allegation. *State v. Fields*, 2001 WI App 297, ¶7, 249 Wis.2d 292, 638

Page 7 of 15

N.W.2d 897. The information should identify the specific repeater offense, the date of the conviction for that offense, and the nature of that offense – whether for a felony or misdemeanor. *Gerard*, 189 Wis.2d at 516.

The burden lies with the State to plead a repeater allegation with clarity and precision. *State v. Wilks*, 165 Wis.2d 102, 110, 477 N.W.2d 632 (Ct. Appl. 1991). When a defendant challenges the pleadings, the court must resolve any ambiguous charging language against the State. *Id.* If the State fails to adequately plead the prior conviction supporting the repeater, prejudice to the defendant is an irrelevant consideration under § 973.12(1), Stats. *Gerard*,189 Wis.2d at 517. The legislature has established a rule, period. *State v. Martin*, 162 Wis.2d 883, 902, 470 N.W.2d 900 (1991).

The State must carry the burden to make good the charge in the essential particulars. *State v. Flowers*, 221 Wis.2d 20, 28, 586 N.W.2d 175 (Ct. App. 1998). The prior conviction is an essential element of proof to be satisfied at sentencing if the State is to secure the additional punishment it seeks. *Id.* If the State does not meet the proof requirements of § 973.12(1), the trial court is without authority to sentence the defendant as a repeater. *Id.*

The State must make a specific allegation of the preceding conviction and incarceration dates so as to permit the court and the defendant to determine whether the dates are correct and the five-year statutory timeframe is met. *State v. Zimmerman*, 185 Wis.2d 549, 558, 518 N.W.2d 303 (Ct. App. 1994). At the plea hearing, the court must conduct proper questioning so as to ascertain the meaning and potential consequences of a plea involving a repeater enhancer. *Id.* at 555.

7

Given the significant liberty interests at stake and the demand that enhanced penalties be based upon prior convictions which actually exist, all sentences imposed in excess of their maximum terms are void. *Flowers*, 221 Wis.2d 29, 29. There are no exceptions to this rule.¹ *Id*.

ARGUMENT

There is no dispute in this case that the State failed to properly identify the conviction that anchored the repeater charge. It mistakenly referred to Nelson's 2017 conviction in Barron County Case No. 17CF307 as a conviction for Possession of Methamphetamine, not as a conviction for Possession of a Firearm by a Felon. In other words, the State had failed to plead the repeater allegation with the requisite clarity and precision the law requires.

Given the error, Nelson moved the circuit court to commute the enhanced portion of his sentence. (R41). As he argued below, the enhanced portion of his sentence, pursuant to *State v. Flowers*, 221 Wis.2d 20, 29, 586 N.W.2d 175 (Ct. App. 1998), was void as a matter of law because it was not based on a prior conviction that actually existed. (R41). Because the State had failed to make good the repeater charge in its essential particulars, the court lacked authority to sentence Nelson as a repeater and the enhanced sentence was void.

The court did not see it that way. According to the trial court, the purpose of the statute that requires the State to set forth the conviction that supports the repeater allegation is to

¹ **973.13** In any case where the court imposes a maximum penalty in excess of that authorized by law, such excess shall be void and the sentence shall be valid only to the extent of the maximum term authorized by statute and shall stand commuted without further proceedings.

Page 9 of 15

provide notice to the defendant that the State is seeking an enhanced penalty under § 939.62. (R63:15). The court misspoke when it referred to § 939.62, because § 939.62 sets forth the repeater penalties, not the pleading requirements. Wis. Stats. § 939.62. Rather, § 973.12 sets forth the requirements the State must follow when putting the defendant on notice that the State is seeking an enhanced penalty.²

Be that as it may, because the court felt notice was the appropriate inquiry, it searched the record to investigate whether Nelson had been put on sufficient notice that he would be sentenced as a repeater. (R63). Ultimately, it found that he had. (R63:20).

The court proceeded in this fashion believing that *Rachwal* and *Liebnitz* dictated how it should proceed. (R63:16, 18). In *Rachwal* the defendant appealed the enhancement portion of his sentence on the basis that he had not admitted the anchoring conviction, nor had the State proved it up as required by § 973.12(1). *State v. Rachwal*, 159 Wis.2d 494, 497 n.1, 504, 485 N.W.2d 490 (1991). The court looked to the totality of the record to determine that Rachwal had indeed admitted to the underlying conviction. *Id.* at 512 (*Under the circumstances of this case, for purposes of sec.* 973.12, *the defendant's plea of no contest constituted an admission*).

We find the same result in *Liebnitz* where the defendant also claimed on appeal that he had never admitted to the underlying conviction and that the State had never proved it

² **973.12(1)** Whenever a person charged with a crime will be a repeater or a persistent repeater under s. 939.62 or subject to a penalty under s. 939.6195 if convicted, any applicable convictions may be alleged in the complaint, indictment, or information or amendments so alleging at any time before or at arraignment, and before acceptance of any plea.

Page 10 of 15

up. *State v. Liebnitz*, 231 Wis.2d 272, 283, 603 N.W.2d 208 (1999). The *Liebnitz* court took the same approach as the *Rachwal* court and looked to the totality of the record to find an admission. *Id.* at 284 (*we find that the record presents sufficient facts to find that Liebnitz's plea to the information constitutes an admission*).

But what distinguishes *Rachwal* and *Liebnitz* from Nelson's case is that in *Rachwal* and *Liebnitz* the underlying convictions were sufficiently plead. *Rachwal*, 159 Wis.2d at 498 (*There is no issue as to whether the "prior convictions" of which sec.* 973.12(1) *speaks were specifically and accurately set forth within in the "repeater provision."*); *Liebnitz*, 231 Wis.2d at 276 (*Each repeater charge in the criminal complaint set forth facts supporting its application to Liebnitz. Liebnitz does not challenge the accuracy or specificity of the repeater provisions*).

As the *Fields* court instructed, the totality of the record test set forth in *Liebnitz* has no application when a defendant challenges the accuracy or specificity of the repeater provisions in the information. *State v. Fields*, 2001 WI App 297, ¶7 n.3. To the contrary, when a challenge to the pleadings is raised, the court looks to the pleading, more specifically the information, to see if it complies with § 973.12(1). *Fields*, 2001 WI App 297, ¶8. If the information fails to do so, then the court has no authority to enhance the sentence. *Flowers*, 221 Wis.2d at 28.

The defendant in the *Fields* case challenged the information just as Nelson does here. *Fields*, 2001 WI App 297, ¶5. While the *Fields* court found the information to be woefully inadequate, it nonetheless found that the State had cured the inadequacy by submitting a certified copy of the prior conviction prior to Fields changing his plea. *Id.* ¶8. Hence, it upheld the enhanced penalty in *Fields*. *Id.* ¶15.

Such was not case, however, in *Wilks*. The *Wilks* case is factually similar to Nelson's case and is the case that should guide the court's decision in this appeal. In *Wilks*, the State charged Wilks as a repeater based on a forgery conviction in May 1986. *State v. Wilks*, 165 Wis.2d 102, 104, 477 N.W.2d 632 (Ct. App. 1991). The trouble was that Wilks had no forgery conviction in May of 1986. *Id.* at 106. To the contrary, he had a forgery conviction in July of 1985. *Id.* When the State discovered its error it attempted to amend the charging document. *Id.* at 106. Insofar as the trial court allowed the State to amend, the court of appeals reversed as the court of appeals found the amendment to be untimely under the statute. *Id.* at 108.

[T]he legislature has established the time of arraignment and of any plea acceptance as the cut-off point after which time a defendant can no longer face exposure to repeater enhancement for the crime set forth in the charging document and pleaded to by the defendant at arraignment.

Id.

Thus, because Wilks had already entered his plea, the court would not allow the State to amend the pleadings to cure the error. *Id.* at 108-09.

In reaching its conclusion, the court of appeals considered that the amendment, instead of alleging a wholly different offense, might merely state a different conviction date for the forgery offense. *Id.* at 111. But it rejected this approach, concluding that the burden lies with the State to plead a repeater allegation with relative clarity and precision. *Id.* It remarked that the statute even allows the trial court to grant the State additional reasonable time to investigate possible prior convictions before acceptance of a plea. *Id.* In light of this accommodation, it said, we properly resolve any ambiguous charging language against the State. *Id.*

This, Nelson submits, must be the result here. In Nelson's case the State simply did not do what the statute requires it to do. The prior conviction is an essential element of proof to be satisfied at sentencing if the State is to secure the additional punishment it seeks. *Flowers*, 221 Wis.2d at 22. If the State does not meet the proof requirements of § 973.12(1), the trial court is without authority to sentence the defendant as a repeater. *Id*.

Granted, notice to defendants lies at the heart of § 973.12, *Gerard*, 189 Wis.2d at 514, but evidence in the record that a defendant knew the State was seeking an enhanced sentence does not cure the State's error when the information is defective. *Wilks*, 165 Wis.2d at 111. In this instance, the postconviction court simply applied the wrong analysis. *Wilks* and *Fields* make it abundantly clear that when a defendant challenges the pleadings, the court must examine the pleadings for compliance. *Fields*, 2001 WI App 297, ¶8.

Moreover, in this case, the State has never cured the defective pleading. Insofar as a defendant is entitled to be sentenced on accurate information, *State v. Tiepelman*, 2006 WI 66 ¶¶9, 26, 291 Wis.2d 179, 717 N.W.2d 1, the circuit court sentenced Nelson on wholly inaccurate information, believing that his prior crime was possession of methamphetamine.

CONCLUSION

Wilks should guide this Court's decision in this appeal. Mr. Nelson's enhanced penalty is not based on

any conviction that actually exists. Therefore, pursuant to Rule 973.12, his enhanced penalty is void as a matter of law. He respectfully asks this court to follow *Wilks* and to amend his judgment of conviction to one-and-ahalf years of initial confinement followed by two years of extended supervision.