Brief of Respondent Filed 08-30-2021

Page 1 of 27

FILED 08-30-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III

Case Nos. 2021AP843-CR, 2021AP844-CR, 2021AP845-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN, Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

STEVEN M. NELSON,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM JUDGMENTS OF CONVICTION AND A DECISION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN THE BARRON COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE MAUREEN D. BOYLE, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

JENNIFER L. VANDERMEUSE Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1070979

Attorneys for Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

Nelson was properly sentenced as a repeater.

In his brief to this Court, Nelson argues that the State failed to sufficiently plead the prior conviction prior to his guilty plea. However, in certain places, he appears to suggest that the State also failed to prove the prior conviction at sentencing. (Nelson Br. 12 ("[t]he prior conviction is an essential element of proof to be satisfied at sentencing ...[i]f the State does not meet the proof requirements of § 973.12(1), the trial court is without authority to sentence the defendant as a repeater").); (see also Nelson Br. 7.) The State's duty to give notice at the pleading stage is a distinct concept from the State's burden to prove the defendant's repeater status at the sentencing stage and is governed by a different legal standard. Stynes, 262 Wis. 2d 335, ¶ 18. For the sake of completeness, the State addresses why the repeater enhancement was sufficiently pled and sufficiently proven in this case.

- A. The charging documents gave Nelson adequate notice of his status as a repeater.
 - 1. Proper notice allows a defendant to assess the extent of punishment at the time he or she pleads to the charges.

The repeater penalty enhancement allows for an increase in the maximum term of imprisonment imposed as the result of a criminal conviction. *Stynes*, 262 Wis. 2d 335, ¶ 12; Wis. Stat. § 939.62(1). A "repeater" is an actor who was "convicted of a felony during the 5-year period immediately

Case 2021AP000845 Brief of Respondent Filed 08-30-2021 Page 14 of 27

preceding the commission of the crime for which the actor presently is being sentenced." Wis. Stat. § 939.62(2).

Relevant here, possession of methamphetamine is normally a Class I Felony, which carries a maximum prison sentence of three-and-a-half years. (R. 61:34); Wis. Stat. §§ 939.50(3)(i); 973.01(2)(b)9.; 973.01(2)(d)6. However, if an actor is a repeater, the maximum term of imprisonment may be increased by four years if the prior conviction was for a felony. (R. 61:34); Wis. Stat. § 939.62(1)(b). In Nelson's case, that meant that he could face a sentence of up to seven-and-a-half years for possession of methamphetamine as a repeater. (R. 61:34.)

The State must give a defendant notice of any prior convictions that form the basis of repeater penalty enhancements. Stynes, 262 Wis. 2d 335, ¶ 10. Prior convictions "may be alleged in the complaint, indictment or information." Wis. Stat. § 973.12(1). The State must allege the prior convictions within the applicable charging document "before or at arraignment, and before acceptance of any plea." Stynes, 262 Wis. 2d 335, ¶ 10 (quoting Wis. Stat. § 973.12(1)). This ensures that when the defendant is asked to plead, he or she has notice of the extent of the potential punishment. Id. ¶ 13.

Case law governs the minimum level of specificity required of a repeater allegation. Stynes, 262 Wis. 2d 335, ¶ 14. At a minimum, a repeater allegation should identify the repeater offense, the date of conviction for that offense, and the nature of the offense—whether for a felony or misdemeanor conviction. Id. ¶ 15. The date of conviction is important because the repeater status depends on whether the conviction falls within the five-year period. Id.

While the State must plead the repeater allegation "with relative clarity and precision," Id. (citation omitted), this requirement does not mandate perfection in pleading prior convictions. In Stynes, the repeater allegation in the complaint misstated the date of the convictions by one calendar day. Id. ¶ 16. Stynes did not assert that there was any error in the description of the offenses, the identification of the county where the convictions occurred, or the case number. Id.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court held that the error did not render the repeater allegation ineffective. Id. ¶ 21. There was no question that the State was intending to refer to Stynes' convictions that actually existed, notwithstanding the error in the date. Id. ¶ 28. The fact that the convictions existed was apparent because the complaint described the offenses, stated the correct county of conviction, cited the case number, and included a date of the convictions that was misstated by only one calendar day. Id. Because Stynes was informed of his repeater status and the case involved "an error that did not affect Stynes' ability to assess meaningfully the extent of the punishment at the time he pleaded to the charges," the complaint provided Stynes with the required notice of the predicate convictions on which his repeater status was based. Id. ¶ 32; see also Id. ¶ 29–34.

2. Nelson had sufficient notice of the prior conviction on which his repeater status was based.

Here, Nelson's complaint and information were sufficient to put him on notice of the prior conviction that formed the basis of the repeater allegation. There is no dispute that Nelson had a prior conviction of Felon in Possession of a Firearm in Barron County Case No. 17CF307, dated November 15, 2017. The complaint and information correctly listed the county of conviction, cited the correct case

number, and stated the correct date of the conviction. (R. 1:3; 12:1.) In one place on the complaint, the correct name of the prior conviction was stated, (R. 1:3), but a different page stated the wrong name of the conviction, as did the information. (R. 1:1; 12:1). Like Stynes, the complaint and information show that the State intended to refer to Nelson's existing conviction of Felon in Possession of a Firearm in Barron County Case No. 17CF307, dated November 15, 2017. Stynes, 262 Wis. 2d 335, ¶ 28.

By the face of these documents, this error did not affect Nelson's ability to assess the potential extent of punishment at the time he pleaded to the charge. ¹⁴ *Id.* ¶¶ 32, 34. Further, Nelson signed a Plea Questionnaire/Waiver of Rights form that acknowledged he was pleading guilty to the charge as a repeater. (R. 13:2.) In that document, he affirmed his understanding that the maximum penalty he faced upon conviction was three years and six months, plus four years as a repeater. (R. 13:1.) The court thoroughly discussed what it would mean for him to be sentenced as a repeater, and Nelson knew the extent of his potential punishment with the repeater enhancement. (R. 58:7–8; 63:10–13.)

Nelson has never disputed that he was convicted of a felony on November 15, 2017. Nelson had the information necessary to identify which of his prior convictions would be used to establish his repeater status, and most importantly, he was able to meaningfully assess the potential extent of his sentence. *See Stynes*, 262 Wis. 2d 335, ¶ 34. The charging documents provided Nelson with the required notice of the predicate convictions on which his repeater status was based.

¹⁴ To be clear, Nelson has never challenged the entry of his plea as defective. His postconviction motion was a request to void the repeater portion of his sentence, not to withdraw his plea. (R. 41.)

3. Nelson's arguments to the contrary are incorrect.

Nelson argues that the State failed to plead the repeater allegation "with the requisite clarity and precision the law requires" because the prior conviction identified "was not based on a prior conviction that actually existed." (Nelson Br. 7–8.) Nelson is mistaken.

As an initial matter, Nelson has never disputed that he was convicted of a felony on November 15, 2017. Nor does he dispute that the charging documents identify a prior felony conviction of November 15, 2017. Rather, he essentially contends that if the document does not perfectly state the charge, his enhanced sentence is void. But that is not the law, as explained above. *Stynes*, 262 Wis. 2d 335, ¶¶ 14–21.

Nelson cites $State\ v.\ Fields$ for the proposition that the information must include the repeater allegation. (Nelson Br. 6–7.) In that case, the information was defective because it failed to identify any specific details for the repeater charge, namely, the date and nature of the offense. $State\ v.\ Fields$, 2001 WI App 297, ¶¶ 2, 8, 249 Wis. 2d 292, 638 N.W.2d 897. Here, in contrast, the information did include specific details of the repeater allegation, but with an error in the title of the offense. The error was not fatal because the other details alerted Nelson to the extent of his punishment at the time he pled to the charges, as explained above. Fields, 249 Wis. 2d 292, ¶ 7.

Nelson argues that the information was never corrected; therefore, he was sentenced on "wholly inaccurate information." (Nelson Br. 12.) This argument misses the mark. At no point prior to sentencing did Nelson ever contend that the information was defective, and his postconviction motion was a request to void the repeater portion of his sentence. That is what this appeal is about. Further, the error did not change the basis upon which Nelson entered his plea,

as explained above, nor did it alter the court's analysis at sentencing.¹⁵ And finally, the error did not implicate the accuracy of his conviction for Possession of Methamphetamine, which has never been in dispute.

Nelson also relies on *State v. Wilks*, 165 Wis. 2d 102, 477 N.W.2d 632 (Ct. App. 1991), but that case is not on all fours with this case. (Nelson Br. 11–12.) There, the State charged a defendant with misdemeanor retail theft, and the complaint alleged that he was previously convicted of forgery in May 1986. *Id.* at 104. The defendant pleaded no contest but indicated that the State would be unable to prove the alleged prior conviction because it did not exist. *Id.* at 105. The State later conceded that the prior conviction did not exist but asked for leave to use a July 1985 forgery conviction as the basis for Wilks' repeater status. *Id.* at 106.

The court of appeals concluded that this amendment was not permissible. *Id.* at 111. The court read the supreme court's language in *State v. Martin/Robles*¹⁶ "to bar post-plea repeater amendments which meaningfully change the basis upon which the defendant assessed the extent of possible punishment at the time of plea." *Id.* The repeater amendment changed the basis upon which Wilkes pleaded. *Id.* Wilks pleaded no contest in part because he did not believe the State could prove the prior conviction. *Id.* at 110. At the time he pleaded, Wilks had no notice of a July 1985 forgery conviction. *Id.*

 $^{^{15}}$ An information may be amended after the plea to correct a clerical error in the sentence portion of a repeater allegation if the amendment does not prejudice the defendant. *Stynes*, 262 Wis. 2d 335, ¶ 29 (citing *State v. Gerard*, 189 Wis. 2d 505, 509, 525 N.W.2d 718 (1995)).

¹⁶ 162 Wis. 2d 883, 891–92, 470 N.W.2d 900 (1991).

Unlike in *Wilkes*, Nelson did have notice of the prior felon-in-possession conviction because it was properly stated in the probable cause section of the complaint. (R. 1:3.) The complaint and information contained an error in naming the prior conviction, but there is no evidence that the basis upon which Nelson pleaded would have been changed absent the error. Nelson knew and understood that he was a repeater, and he never contended that his prior conviction did not exist.

The *Wilks* court observed that, in applying *Martin/Robles*, it was important to avoid absurd results. *Id.* at 111–12. That is, when an amendment does not meaningfully change the basis upon which a defendant enters his plea, such an amendment is permissible. *Id.* That is the situation here.

Further, as the *Stynes* court noted, there was some confusion in *Wilks* regarding whether the State, when it listed a conviction that occurred in May 1986, was attempting to refer to the conviction that occurred in July 1985. *Stynes*, 262 Wis. 2d 335, \P 27. The State may have been alleging a wholly different offense, or even a nonexistent offense. *Id.* Because of the confusion, the court concluded that Wilks was not fairly put on notice of the actual conviction. *Id.* There was no ambiguity of this kind here – the record shows that the State intended to plead the felon-in-possession conviction, not a completely different one or one that did not exist. (R. 1:3.)

Nelson had the information he needed to know the extent of his punishment as a repeater and plead accordingly.

B. The prior conviction was properly proven at sentencing.

Nelson focused somewhat on the state's burden to prove the repeater status in his postconviction motion, (R. 41:3–5; 62:8), and the circuit court addressed that argument in its oral decision. (R. 42; 43; 62; 63). Specifically, the court looked to the totality of the record to conclude that Nelson had admitted the prior conviction, and further concluded that ample record evidence proved the prior conviction.¹⁷ (R. 63:8, 14–16, 18–20.)

It appears Nelson has abandoned any argument that the State failed to prove the conviction. See A.O. Smith Corp. v. Allstate Ins. Cos., 222 Wis. 2d 475, 491–92, 588 N.W.2d 285 (Wis. Ct. App. 1998) (arguments not raised on appeal in the appellant's main brief are deemed abandoned). To the extent he is raising this argument, it is not developed, and this Court need not consider it. State v. Pettit, 171 Wis. 2d 627, 647, 492 N.W.2d 633 (Ct. App. 1992) (declining to review issues that are not briefed).

That aside, and for the sake of completeness, the prior conviction was sufficiently established at sentencing for two independent reasons. First, based on the totality of the record, Nelson's guilty plea constitutes an admission to the prior conviction prior to sentencing, which relieved the State of its burden to prove it. Second, the circuit court had adequate proof of the prior conviction at sentencing.

1. The State must establish the prior conviction through the defendant's admission or by sufficient proof.

The repeater statute, Wis. Stat. § 939.62(2), requires the prior conviction to fall within "the 5-year period immediately preceding the commission of the crime for which [the defendant] presently is being sentenced." Under

Liebnitz's "totality of the record test" is misplaced, primarily because those cases did not concern an alleged error in the charging documents. (Nelson Br. 9–10.) But in his postconviction motion, Nelson argued (at least in part) that Nelson's admission to the conviction was insufficient, and the State was not relieved of its burden to prove the prior conviction.

¹⁷ Nelson argues that the circuit court's reliance on *Rachwal* and

(R. 41:3-5; 62:8.) The totality of the record test is relevant to this argument.

20

Wis. Stat. § 973.12(1), an individual may be sentenced as a repeater if he either admits the prior convictions or the State proves the convictions beyond a reasonable doubt. *Liebnitz*, 231 Wis. 2d 272, ¶ 15; see also Flowers, 221 Wis. 2d at 31; State v. Saunders, 2002 WI 107, ¶ 51, 255 Wis. 2d 589, 649 N.W.2d 263.

a. Standard for admission.

"A charge of being a repeater is not a charge of a crime and, if proved, only renders the defendant eligible for an increase in penalty for the crime of which he is convicted." *Liebnitz*, 231 Wis. 2d 272, ¶ 15 (citation omitted). If the requirements of § 973.12 are satisfied, "the defendant is subjected to the possibility of a sentence longer than the maximum one provided by law for the offense for which the defendant is convicted." *Id.* (citation omitted).

When a defendant chooses not to contest the allegations in the complaint, and when the totality of the record establishes that the defendant understood the nature and consequences of the charges against him and the consequences of his plea, a guilty or "no contest" plea constitutes an admission of the prior conviction under Wis. Stat. § 973.12; *Liebnitz*, 231 Wis. 2d 272, ¶¶ 15–16, 19–24; *see also State v. Rachwal*, 159 Wis. 2d 494, 509, 513–14, 465 N.W. 2d 490 (1991).

Liebnitz is instructive on this point. There, the circuit court did not explicitly verify that Liebnitz was a repeat offender, nor did the State prove the repeater allegation at sentencing. Id. ¶¶ 11, 15. However, given the record, the Wisconsin Supreme Court held that Liebnitz's plea to the information constituted an admission for purposes of Wis. Stat. § 973.12. Id. ¶ 24. This was true for four reasons. First, both the criminal complaint and the information charged Liebnitz as a repeat offender. Id. ¶ 19. Second, the judge read each count and its possible penalties, asked if

Liebnitz understood those penalties, and received an answer in the affirmative. Id. \P 20. Third, Liebnitz reached a plea agreement and filled out a plea questionnaire and waiver of rights form, which acknowledged that the basis for his plea was established by the criminal complaint and transcript of his preliminary exam. Id. \P 21. Fourth, Liebnitz chose not to contest the allegations in the complaint. Id. \P 22. "[I]t is a well-established rule 'that what is admitted by a guilty or no contest plea is all the material facts alleged in the charging document." Id. (citation omitted). The court observed that the criminal complaint set forth the repeater charge, and Liebnitz specifically stated on the record that he would not contest any allegation in the complaint. Id.

This concept is similar to the guilty-plea-waiver rule. Generally, "a guilty, no contest, or *Alford* plea 'waives all nonjurisdictional defects, including constitutional claims." $State\ v.\ Kelty, 2006\ WI\ 101,\ \P\ 18, 294\ Wis.\ 2d\ 62, 716\ N.W.2d\ 886$ (footnote omitted) (citation omitted). Courts call this "the guilty-plea-waiver rule," although it is more accurately described as a rule of forfeiture. $Id.\ \P\ 18\ \&\ n.11$. "Like the general rule of waiver, the guilty-plea-waiver rule is a rule of administration and does not involve the court's power to address the issues raised." $Id.\ \P\ 18$.

The guilty-plea-waiver rule has its genesis in a series of Supreme Court decisions known as the "Brady trilogy." See Tollett v. Henderson, 411 U.S. 258, 262–67 (1973). In those cases, the defendants' "guilty pleas . . . were found to foreclose direct inquiry into the merits of claimed antecedent constitutional violations." Id. at 266. The rationale for the rule is that "a guilty plea represents a break in the chain of events which has preceded it in the criminal process." Id. at 267. "Once the defendant chooses to bypass the orderly procedure for litigating his constitutional claims in order to take the benefits, if any, of a plea of guilty, the State acquires

a legitimate expectation of finality in the conviction thereby obtained." *Lefkowitz v. Newsome*, 420 U.S. 283, 289 (1975).

"When a criminal defendant has solemnly admitted in open court that he is in fact guilty of the offense with which he is charged, he may not thereafter raise independent claims" of constitutional error that occurred before the entry of the plea. *Henderson*, 411 U.S. at 267. As this Court explained, "[t]he idea underlying the waiver rule is that a guilty plea itself constitutes both an admission that the defendant committed past acts and a consent that a judgment of conviction be entered against him without a trial." *Racine Cty. v. Smith*, 122 Wis. 2d 431, 437, 362 N.W.2d 439 (Ct. App. 1984).

b. Standard for proof.

To prove the conviction in the absence of an admission, "[a]n official report of a government agency is prima facie evidence of any conviction or sentence reported therein." Flowers, 221 Wis. 2d at 32. To be an official report on which reliance may be placed for sentencing, the report must contain relevant information regarding the issue of repeater status and must specifically include the date of conviction for the previous offense. State v. Farr, 119 Wis. 2d 651, 658, 350 N.W.2d 640 (1984). While a certified copy of a judgment of conviction is often considered the best kind of evidence, uncertified copies may be used as well. Saunders, 255 Wis. 2d 589, ¶¶ 24, 28.

2. Nelson's plea constitutes an admission to the prior conviction; regardless, the record documents sufficiently proved the prior conviction at sentencing.

Similar to *Liebnitz*, the totality of the record shows that Nelson admitted the prior conviction that forms the basis of the repeater allegation. The complaint and information both

Case 2021AP000845 Brief of Respondent Filed 08-30-2021 Page 24 of 27

stated that he was a repeater, and the complaint set forth the correct charge in the probable cause section. (R. 1:3.) All information was correct except for the title of the prior conviction.

Pursuant to a plea agreement, Nelson pleaded guilty to Possession of Methamphetamine as a repeater. (R. 13:2; 19; 58:3, 6.) He signed a Plea Questionnaire/Waiver of Rights form that acknowledged he was pleading guilty to the charge as a repeater. (R. 13:2.) In that document, he affirmed his understanding that the maximum penalty he faced upon conviction was three years and six months, plus four years as a repeater. (R. 13:1.)

Notwithstanding the error in the name of the prior conviction, the court ascertained that Nelson was aware of the significance of the repeater portion of his plea. (R. 58:7–8.) The court asked Nelson, "do you acknowledge that you have convicted of Possession of previously been Methamphetamine, in Barron County Case 17-CF-307, on November 15th, 2017?" (R. 58:4.) Nelson responded in the affirmative. (R. 58:4.) The court asked Nelson if he understood the consequences of his repeater status, and he indicated yes. (R. 58:7-8.) The court also reviewed with him the maximum penalty that was applicable, given the repeater allegation. (R. 58:7–8.) Nelson stipulated that there were additional facts regarding the prior conviction that would support the factual basis for his plea. (R. 58:7–8, 10.) And finally, the court asked Nelson if he understood that by pleading guilty, he was relieving the State of its burden to prove the prior felony conviction. (R. 58:7–8.) Nelson indicated yes. (R. 58:7.)

While the State, the circuit court, and Nelson made a mistake as to the name of the prior conviction, this does not change the fact that Nelson chose not to contest the allegations in the complaint and information. The totality of the record establishes that Nelson admitted his status as a

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